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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	LANE BRUCE TOWER, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

SOUTH COAST INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE. 

COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200128356M
                                       200116177

        AWCB Decision No.  04-0231

         Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

         on September  27,  2004


On August 10, 2004, in Juneau, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) met to hear the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (TTD) and medical benefits, penalties, interest and a finding of frivolous and unfair controversion.   The employee appeared in person.  Theresa Henneman, attorney at law, represented the employer and its insurer (“the employer”).  The matter was continued to August 26, 2004 to take the testimony by telephone of the employee and employer medical witnesses and for submission of further evidence and argument.  The record closed at the conclusion of the August 26th hearing.

ISSUES
1. Is the employee’s claim for benefits due to injury of the right elbow barred pursuant to AS 23.30.100?

2. Did the employee’s right elbow condition arise in the course and scope of employment?

3. Is the employee entitled to TTD from October 22, 2003 through December 12, 2003 or to the present?

4. Is the employee entitled to payment for medical and medical transportation costs associated with treatment of his right elbow condition?

5. Was the November 25, 2003 controversion unfair or frivolous?

6. Is the employee entitled to penalties or interest? 


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.  Background and History of the Claim
The employee was employed as a laborer “pounding hubs” on road construction for the employer while working on the Big Salt project.
  He worked for the employer earlier in 2001 and then finally from May 31, 2001 through August 17, 2001.  He was 46 years of age at the time of the injury.  When he left work for this employer, he filed an injury report citing his left elbow as being “swollen” and reported that he had a “pinched nerve in shoulder.”
  The project manager on the project acknowledged that the employee had an arm injury and that he, the project manager, tried to find the employee other work.
  His statement was supported by the statement of David Matelski, the employee’s immediate supervisor, who acknowledged that the employee had an elbow injury and that he tried to get him easier work that would not make his injury worse.

After the employee left work, he sought treatment for his left elbow with Kari Lundgren, PA-C.
 She diagnosed left elbow tendonitis with back muscle strain.  The condition was deemed work related and “occurred due to repetitive hammering with left arm.”  He was prescribed Vicodin and Flexeril and told to massage the elbow and continue with anti-inflammatories.   He was then treated by Alan Wolf, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon and his treating physician, who performed surgery on the employee’s left elbow in October 2001.  The employee received TTD for his left elbow from August 6, 2001 through May 16, 2002 when his left elbow was deemed stable. The employee eventually received a two per cent permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating for his left elbow from Dr. Wolf in May 2002.  Eventually, Dr. Wolf rerated the elbow to five percent on December 26, 2002.
  At about this same time, the employee first discussed his bilateral pain problems with Dr. Wolf.
  The employee filed a workers compensation claim seeking a rate adjustment which was resolved without a need for Board intervention.
  The employee filed another workers’ compensation claim on January 24, 2003 alleging injury to the left elbow and claiming the date of injury was May 30, 2001.  He described the mechanism for the injury as “pounding a 14 inch by 1 ¼ drill steel into road bed 12 inches with a 10 pound sledge hammer up to 200 times per day 10 days in a row per work week…”
  Four days later, the employee filed another claim, this time for mental stress.
   On February 14, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Wolf for bilateral elbow and ulnar sided hand numbness.
  On February 26, 2003, the employer controverted the employee’s benefits based on its AS 23.30.100 defense.
  

On April 9, 2003, the employee underwent more left elbow surgery and TTD was paid from this date.  It is possible that the right arm “overuse” phenomena occurred at about this time as the employee’s left arm was recovering from the surgery.
  On April 29, 2003, Dr. Wolf again reported his diagnosis of right elbow pain.
  Subsequently, Dr. Wolf conservatively treated the employee for right elbow pain based on his diagnosis of “right lateral epicondylitis or “tennis elbow” and “right cubital tunnel syndrome.”

From May 27, 2003 through June 13, 2003, the employee underwent and completed a job training program sponsored by the Alaska Workforce Investment Act (WIA).  This included 40 hours of Hazmat, 40 hours of backhoe training and 40 hours of training to work as a grader.
  The employer claims that the cause of the employee’s right elbow problem was his 80 hours of training learning to operate a road grader and backhoe.  In support of its argument, the employer cites the employee’s complaints when his deposition was taken that he had not done any work as a road grader because his arms hurt too much.
 On July 15, 2003, the employee informed the employer for the first time that his right arm was bothering him.
 On October 9, 2003, the employee was seen by Dr. Wolf for right elbow pain similar to what he experienced on the left.
  On October 21, 2003, the employee was seen by Dr. Wolf for right lateral elbow pain.  He noted that “lateral pain with lifting on the right now feels like it used to feel on the left.” He further noted that nonoperative treatment has not worked.
   On October 22, 2003, the employee underwent right elbow surgery for right distal humerus lateral epicondylitis (“tennis elbow”).  The surgery involved epicondyle debridement and removal of bone spurs.
  By letter dated November 19, 2003, Dr. Wolf related that the employee informed him that when his left elbow was casted, his right elbow became symptomatic.  Dr. Wolf opined that the right elbow problem was caused by the inability to use the left elbow which was work related.  Although the left elbow plateaued, the plateau was only temporary and the discomfort recurred.  Dr. Wolf thought the employee had reached his maximal level of medical improvement but then he felt his assumption was incorrect.
   When the employee went to see Dr. Wolf on November 25, 2003 to follow up after the surgery, the employee complained that when he had surgery on his right elbow, the left elbow became problematic during the period of convalesence.  He testified that the same thing happened when he had surgery on the left side and the right side became symptomatic due to overuse.  As Dr. Wolf reported “After the left elbow surgery, he overused the right side, which subsequently became symptomatic.”  The employee’s diagnosis was “right lateral epicondylitis treated successfully with surgery one month ago” and “left elbow medical epicondylitis-recurrent.”
   

The employee filed for benefits in connection with his left arm injury and for mental stress.  This claim was designated AWCB No. 200116177.  The final order in this matter, AWCB Decision No. 03-0278, was issued November 25, 2003.  The mental stress claim was denied but the employee did receive other benefits in connection with his left arm injury.  This case is currently on appeal by the employee to superior court. The files connected with the employee’s right, bilateral and left arm conditions, AWCB Nos. 200116177 and 200128356, were previously consolidated at a prehearing conference held March 18, 2003.  The record in AWCB No. 200116177 has been incorporated by reference into this proceeding by agreement of the parties.  The employee did attempt to present evidence on his right arm condition as part of this proceeding.

The employer controverted the employee’s benefits related to his right elbow on November 25, 2003 based on the employee’s failure to give notice to the employer of the right arm injury under AS 23.30.100.
  On November 29, 2003, the employee filed his workers’ compensation claim which gives rise to the current proceeding.
   The employer filed its answer on January 7, 2004.  It disputed the employee’s claims for TTD, medical costs and transportation costs, interest, penalty and unfair or frivolous controversion.  It asserted that the claim was barred under AS 23.30.100 and that the employee’s condition was the result of superceding or intervening events.

On December 12, 2003, at the request of the employer, the employee was seen by Donald Schroeder, M.D.  He concluded that the employee’s right elbow condition was unrelated to his work with the employer and that no further treatment was reasonable or necessary.
 In support of his position that the right elbow condition is not related to the work activities of 2001, Dr. Schroeder cites the lapse of two years before the condition was reported  to Dr. Wolf on August 5, 2003.  He also found the employee to be medically stable as of the date of his December 12, 2003 examination.  He did not find any permanent impairment for the right elbow.
  

At the August 26, 2004 hearing, Bill Welton testified on behalf of the employee.  He was general manager for South Coast.  He supervised the employee when he was working on the Big Salt Road project.  He remembered that the employee had swelling in both arms from work for the employer.  He remembered that he and the employee did discuss other jobs besides “pounding hubs” i.e. pounding a spike into the road with a ten pound sledge hammer.  These other jobs for the employee did not materialize.  The employee first relied on his left arm then used his right arm after his left arm was sore.  Mr. Welton recalled that the employee injured both arms.

Joyce Ekstrand, paralegal, for the employer’s counsel, testified at the same hearing as a rebuttal witness regarding her discussions with Mr. Welton.  She spoke with the witness who seemed to be of the opinion that the employee had only one arm that was injured.  However, his recollections were vague.  

At the continued hearing session held on August 26, 2004, Dr. Wolf testified regarding his treatment of the employee for his right and left elbow conditions.  The employee had not been seen by Dr. Wolf after November 25, 2003.  Dr. Wolf testified that he treated the employee for both arm injuries with the left being the first and more serious and then later the right elbow.  This was because the employee was left hand dominant.  His treatment began for the left elbow on September 4, 2001.  The mechanism for injury was similar in both arms and elbows.  Dr. Wolf believed it was brought about by pounding a sledge hammer as part of the employee’s work with the employer.  His records showed the employee first discussed bilateral elbow discomfort with him on December 26, 2002.  On the employee’s February 14, 2003 visit, when the employee and Dr. Wolf discussed his right arm, Dr. Wolf’s diagnoses included bilateral ulnar neuritis.   On March 20, 2003, EMG tests were done by John Bursell, M.D., which showed bilateral ulnar irritation.
  The employee had additional left elbow surgery on April 8, 2003 and at the same time the employee experienced right elbow pain.
  By August 5, 2003, Dr. Wolf’s report notes the employee felt the right elbow felt like the left elbow.
 Dr. Wolf diagnosed “right lateral epicondylitis or ‘tennis elbow’ ” and “right cubital tunnel syndrome.” The employee was treated with a tennis elbow band.  A lateral elbow injection was performed which gave the employee significant pain relief.  On October 9, 2003, the employee again saw Dr. Wolf for right elbow pain laterally and right small and ring finger numbness.  The diagnosis was right lateral epicondylitis and right ulnar neuritis and elbow.  At this point, the employee was scheduled for a right elbow lateral epicondylectomy.
  The employee was again seen October 21, 2003 for right elbow lateral pain.  Dr. Wolf acknowledged that nonoperative treatment had not worked on the right and the patient wanted surgery.  On October 22, 2003, Dr. Wolf performed surgery on the right elbow.  In his report of November 19, 2003, Dr. Wolf reported that part of the right elbow problem was caused by the left elbow casting and consequent “overuse.”  Dr. Wolf noted that overuse does occur and in someone in the employee’s physical condition, it may take a while to develop. Medications taken to address his left arm symptoms could also mask the symptoms associated with the right elbow.  Dr. Wolf also opined that the right elbow problem can be recurrent.  It may become medically unstable again.  He considers the type of injury the employee sustained to his elbows to be consistent with recurrent pounding of “hubs” associated with the employee’s work activities for the employer.  Dr. Wolf viewed the right and left elbow conditions as seen during surgery to be similar, with the left elbow being worse than the right.  These conditions were consistent with the diagnosis and mechanism of injury.  

As to the delay in the appearance of the right arm symptoms, Dr. Wolf suggested that prescriptions such as Ibuprofen or Vioxx plus the fact that the employee’s injury to his left arm was more serious, may have delayed or masked the right arm symptoms.  Dr. Wolf also opined that use of joy sticks connected with operating a road grader or other heavy machinery would be less likely to cause the type of injury the employee sustained.  Dr. Wolf maintained that he believed that the employee had always been honest with him.

Dr. Wolf was asked about Dr. Schroeder’s December 12, 2003 evaluation of the employee.  He disagreed that the employee was medically stable and had no permanent impairment.  

Dr. Schroeder also testified regarding his evaluation of the employee.  He has been an orthopedic surgeon for over 30 years.  He physically examined the employee and examined employee medical records. His diagnosis was right lateral humeral epicondylitis and ulnar neuritis.
  He felt the employee’s right arm injury was not related to his 2001 work activities with the employer.  He questioned the two year gap between the alleged injury causing activities and the time the employee actually reported the injury to the employer.  Dr. Schroeder also questioned the employee’s overuse claim.  He maintained that one to two weeks of splinting of the left arm after surgery would not be sufficient to cause overuse of the right elbow.
  He felt this was too short a period of time to cause overuse to develop in the other arm.  He also felt that use of a joy stick to operate road equipment or a grader was sufficiently repetitive and could cause epicondlyltis.  He would rule out work in 2001 as a substantial factor in the right elbow condition.  Dr. Schroeder did not consider the employee’s right elbow epicondylitis to be disabling.  

On cross examination, Dr. Schroeder first opined that pounding a sledge hammer could cause epicondlyitis.  Dr. Schroeder indicated that a surgeon cannot see abnormalities during surgery although Dr. Wolf did say that he could observe such abnormalities.  Dr. Schroeder did acknowledge that Dr. Wolf might know more about the employee due to the length of time he had treated him as opposed to the fact that Dr. Schroeder only saw him once.  He also acknowledged that the employee reported right arm pain in February 2003 to Dr. Wolf before the heavy equipment training program in June, 2003.  

II.  Employer’s Position

The employer maintains that the employee’s contentions regarding the origin and cause of his right arm injury have been inconsistent.  The employer maintains that at the September 9, 2003 hearing regarding the employee’s left arm injury, he claimed that he injured his right arm at the same time he injured his left arm, i.e. in May 2001.
  This statement was reiterated in the employee’s post hearing brief.
  However, in November 2003, the employee changed his position to allege that the right arm injury arose from overuse occasioned by recuperating from surgery which involved casting of the left arm.  Under either scenario, the employer maintains that the employee’s claim should be dismissed as untimely under AS 23.30.100.  The employer maintains that the failure to give timely notice of the injury was prejudicial to the employer in that it was not able to make an investigation into the nature of the injury and to encourage treatment in order to minimize its damages.
  The employer questions how the employee could have sustained an injury in May 2001 and not reported it until two years later.

In addition, the employer contends that the claim for the right arm is not compensable.  The employer maintains that the employee is not entitled to the benefit of the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(b) which provides that if delay in giving notice under AS 23.30.100 is excused by the board, the burden of proof of the validity of the claim shifts to the employee.

The employer also claims that the employee’s injury to his right elbow was more likely caused by his operation of the joy sticks for road grading and backhoe equipment as part of an 80 hour training program he underwent in summer of 2003. The employer asserts that the number of hours the employee worked varied during the summer of 2001 and not all weeks were 40 hour weeks.

Finally, the employer claims that if the employee is entitled to any TTD, it should only be for a very short period after his right arm surgery of October 22, 2003.  The employer maintains that there is no medical evidence that his right elbow condition kept the employee from working prior to October 22, 2003.  Under these circumstances, the employer urges that the employee is only entitled to TTD from the date of surgery on his right arm or October 22, 2003 until the date Dr. Schroeder found the employee to be medically stable in his report of December 12, 2003.  The employer also asserts that its controversion was based on the employee’s failure to give timely notice of the injury to the employer and is therefore reasonably based upon fact and existing law.  The employer also asserts that no penalty is due and the employer’s action in controverting benefits was timely and proper.

III.  Employee’s Position
The employee claims that the time period for advising the employer of the claim should begin as of the time he knew of the injury to his right arm. Thus, the employee gave the employer notice of his injury at the July 15, 2003 prehearing conference.  The employee testified that the employer knew of the employee’s problems with “pounding hubs” through Mr. Welton’s testimony and sought to place him in another less strenuous position but this was not feasible.  The employee claims the employer did know of the nature of the work and its impact on the employee and was doing what it could to alleviate the situation by allowing the employee to take time off and return to work after a few days when his condition had improved.  The employee contends that the employer, through the employee’s supervisor, had actual notice of the employee’s injuries and that investigation and /or treatment would not have been realistic options as the employer was doing what it could to address the situation by allowing the employee time off when he needed it to heal and looking for other work positions which would not require the type of repetitive pounding which was causing and aggravating the employee’s elbow conditions.  

The employee noted discrepancies regarding the report of Dr. Schroeder.  The employee noted that  his position was that of a laborer pounding hubs which involved swinging a 10 pound sledge hammer 1200-1800 times per day for a ten hour day.  He was not in a supervisory position as described in Dr. Schroeder’s report.   The employee criticized Dr. Schroeder’s report due to the characterization of the employer’s work as supervisory which had the effect of minimizing the physical nature of the employee’s actual work for the employer. 

The employee claims that he still has problems returning to work and claims additional time loss. He also claims that no medical costs have been paid for treatment of the right elbow and that he requires further evaluation and treatment for his right arm condition.  

With regard to the overuse problem, the employee noted that the reliance on the right arm was more than just when casting occurred and extended to the full period of recovery for the left arm while it was still weak.

Finally, the employee asserts that under the Richard case, he is entitled to have the Board fully advise him “as to all the real facts which bear upon his condition and his right to compensation, so far as it may know them, and of instructing him on how to pursue his right under law.”
  Secondly, the employee cites the Bockness v. Brown Jug, Inc. case for the proposition that even where medical stability may have been determined, another subsequent period of instability may occur which under the Board’s rules would be deemed compensable and may require the employer to pay for reasonable and necessary medical care.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.  Does AS 23.30.100 Bar the Employee’s Claim?
AS 23.30.100 provides, in part:


(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer. . . .

(b)  The notice must be in writing, contain the name and address of the employee and a statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of the injury or death, and be signed by the employee or by a person on behalf of the employee. . . .

The statutory exceptions for the 30-day notice requirement are set forth in AS 23.30.100(d), which provides:

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice;

(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given;

(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death.

In Cogger v. Anchor House,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held:

An employee must provide formal written notice to his or her employer within thirty days of an injury in order to be eligible for workers' compensation.  AS 23.30.100. For reasons of fairness and based on the general excuse in AS 23.30.100(d)(2), this court has read a "reasonableness" standard, analogous to the "discovery rule" for statutes of limitations, into the statute.  Alaska State House. Auth. v. Sullivan, 518 P.2d 759, 761 (Alaska 1974).  Under this standard, the thirty-day period begins when "by reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury has been sustained." Id. at 761 (quoting 3 Arthur Larson, Workmen's Compensation, Sec. 78.41, at 60 (1971)). . . .

Under Sullivan, the thirty-day period begins to run when the worker could reasonably discover an injury's compensability. 518 P.2d at 761. The exact date when an employee could reasonably discover compensability is often difficult to determine, and missing the short thirty-day limitation period bars a claim absolutely. For reasons of clarity and fairness, we hold that the thirty-day period can begin no earlier than when a compensable event first occurs. However, it is not necessary that a claimant fully diagnose his or her injury for the thirty-day period to begin. (Footnote omitted).

The employee testified that he was focused on his left arm condition from the time of the injury, i.e. June through August, 2001. The employee underwent repetitive pounding to his left and then his right arms as he shifted from left arm usage (he is left handed) to the right arm.  He discussed his problems with his supervisor at work when he had to take time off work to heal up from the injury to his arms his work was causing.  The employer offered other types of work to the employee which would not be of such a stressful and repetitive nature but these possibilities did not materialize.  After being off work long enough to heal, the employee would then return to work, again “pounding hubs.”  This work was of a repetitive pounding nature. The injury would then again cause him to aggravate and reinjure his arms and to then leave the job to heal up again after a few days of work.  After several months of trying to perform this work, the employee left employment.  We find the employee credible.
  The employee knew of his left elbow injury and had that condition addressed promptly.  He was prescribed Vioxx and other medications for his left arm which may have masked his right arm symptoms according to Dr. Wolf, his treating physician.   In any event, the employee did not immediately appreciate the problems with his right elbow.  Once they did become apparent, he again sought medical care from Dr. Wolf who then performed “epicondyle debridement and removal of bone spurs” on the right elbow on October 22, 2003, several months later.  The Board finds that the employee reported his claim for the condition at a prehearing conference held July 15, 2003.  The Board finds it was reported to the employer when the employee reasonably became aware of the right elbow problem.  The Board also finds that the employer knew of the employee’s problems with “pounding hubs” and sought to place him in another less strenuous position but this was not feasible.  Therefore, the Board finds that the employer did know of the nature of the work and its impact on the employee and was doing what it could to alleviate the situation by allowing the employee to take time off and return to work after a few days when his condition had improved.  We find that the employer, through the employee’s supervisor, had actual notice of the employee’s injuries and that investigation and /or treatment would not have been realistic options.  The employer was already doing what it could to address the situation by allowing the employee time off when he needed it to heal and looking for other work positions which would not require the type of repetitive pounding which was causing and aggravating the employee’s elbow conditions.  

The employer argues that the employee’s training in June 2003, which consisted of operating heavy machinery, had the effect of causing the right elbow injury.  We disagree.  The Board finds that the nature of the employee’s right elbow condition is remarkably similar to what happened with his left elbow.  Dr. Wolf’s opinions support this view.  The Board also finds that operating joy sticks as the employee did for several days as part of a heavy machinery training program conducted between May 27, 2003 through June 13, 2003, was not the type of activity which would result in right elbow injury of the type experienced by the employee in the summer of 2001 while working for the employer.
    

Based on the employee’s testimony and on our review of the medical record, we find the employee was not aware of the specific condition giving rise to his claim for right elbow benefits until the condition was experienced by the employee and then verified by Dr. Wolf in his December 26, 2002 and February 14, 2003 reports. The employee completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness concerning his left elbow on  August 17, 2001, shortly after leaving work for the employer.  He reported the right elbow condition when he became aware of it.  We find that his conduct has been reasonable under the circumstances and was not prejudicial to the employer by hampering its ability to investigate or render treatment to the employee.  The employee had already long since discontinued work with this employer and the employer was already well aware at the time of the employee’s employment of his problems with “pounding hubs.”  

Additionally, in Kolkman v. Greens Creek Mining Co.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that even if the employee is interpreted as having failed to give timely, formal written notice, that she should be excused because the employer had knowledge of the general, cumulative injury and was not prejudiced by the delay.  In Kolkman, the Court disapproved the requirement which sprang from State v. Moore,
 that the employer must have knowledge of the work-relatedness of the injury.  The Court in Kolkman held that the statute should be read literally to require only that the employer must have knowledge of the injury.  Accordingly, under the Alaska Supreme Court’s rationale in Kolkman, the Board finds that the employee’s report of injury was timely under AS 23.30.100.  In Kolkman, the failure to give notice by the employee did not bar the claim where the employer had knowledge of the injury and has not been prejudiced by the failure to give notice.  The Board in this case bases its view that the employee had extensive discussions with his supervisor about his condition and the possibility of another less strenuous position.
In Tinker v. VECO, Inc.,
 the Court clarified the employee must show the employer had actual knowledge, and suffered no prejudice which would thwart the two purposes of AS 23.30.100: early diagnosis and treatment, and early investigation.  In the instant case, the employee reported his hand and arm problems to the employer on a regular and continuing basis from the date his arms began to hurt which was early in his employment.  He worked for the employer off and on from May 30, 2001 to August 17, 2001.  When he took time off to heal his arms, the employee’s supervisor was well aware of this situation.  The possibility of another job which would be less demanding was discussed with the employee but it never materialized.  The employee left the employer when he could no longer do the work and then sought medical attention for his left arm.  The record clearly shows that the employer was well aware of the circumstances of the employee’s injury and concerns over need for investigation and/or treatment are irrelevant under the facts of this case.  The employer has not been shown to be prejudiced.  In addition, the employee did not actually know about the right arm injury until July 15, 2003 when he told the Board about it in a prehearing conference. 

II.
COMPENSABILITY OF THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIMS

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed disability benefit and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
   In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.

In the instant case, we find that the dispute over the employee’s right elbow condition involves technical medical issues, and medical evidence is necessary to raise the presumption of the compensability.  We find the employee’s testimony on the cause of the injury to be credible.
  We also rely on the medical reports of the employee’s treating surgeon, Dr. Wolf, which indicate the employee’s right arm condition was related to his work activity of “pounding hubs.”  The Board finds these reports along with the employee’s testimony are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of the compensability.    

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical evaluation for treatment is not reasonable and necessary for the work-related injury.
  Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.
 There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the treatment is not reasonable and necessary; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the treatment is reasonable and necessary for the work-related condition.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  In his December 12. 2003 report, Dr. Schroeder asserted that the mechanism of injury claimed by the employee could not result in the injury to the right arm.  We find these opinions provide affirmative evidence, in isolation, that the employee’s right arm condition was not caused by his work for the employer in 2001 and may well have been caused by his participation in a training program to operate heavy machinery in June 2003.  We find the opinion is substantial evidence, rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim.
 

Once substantial evidence shows the condition is not work-related, the presumption drops out, 
 and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, we have reviewed the entire medical and hearing record.  We find the preponderance of the evidence in the available medical record, especially the opinion of Dr. Wolf, combined with the testimony of the employee, indicating the employee’s right arm condition arose from “pounding hubs” for the employer during the period when he worked for the employer from May 30, 2001 through August 17, 2001.  We give little weight to the EME physician’s assertion that this could not provide a mechanism of injury to the right arm or that the injury was caused by operating joysticks during his June 2003 training program.  We find the opinions of Dr. Wolf to be credible and consistent with the record as a whole and in particular with the employee’s account as to how his condition occurred.  The Board gives greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Wolf as they are well reasoned and factually based.  He also saw the employee and treated his elbow conditions over a several year period.  In contrast, Dr. Schroeder only saw the employee on a single occasion.  The Board relies on the opinions of Dr. Wolf in resolving the medical issues raised by this claim.  The Board finds both Dr. Wolf and the employee to be credible.
  Accordingly, we conclude the employee is entitled to benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act related to his right elbow condition.

The employer argues that the employee is not entitled to the benefit of the presumption analysis under AS 23.30.120(3)(b) where delay in giving notice is excused by the Board.  However, the Board finds that the employee failure to give notice under AS 23.30.100 does not bar the claim where the employer, as in the instant case, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred had knowledge of the injury. Here, the employer clearly had knowledge of the employee’s condition for several months.  The Board also finds that the employer was not prejudiced by failure to give notice of the injury as in this case the employer already clearly knew of the employee’s injury and its ongoing character. AS 23.30.100(d)(1)  This is not a case where the Board has excused the employee’s failure to give notice under AS 23.30.120(4)(b).  

Even if the Board were to find that the employee was not entitled to the benefits of the presumption analysis, we find that the employee’s medical evidence is sufficient to establish by a preponderance of the available evidence that the injury arose from the employee’s work for the employer in 2001. Thus, under either scenario, the employee prevails whether he has the benefit of the presumption analysis under AS 23.30.120 or if he is simply required to establish his claim by a preponderance of the available evidence which we believe he has in this case.

The employer raises questions as to the employee’s credibility because he relies on two different theories as to the cause of his right arm condition.  The Board finds that even if we were to accept the employee’s overuse theory, the employee would still establish compensability of his claim.  Dr. Wolf also supports this overuse theory.  The overuse theory of the injury is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and it was rebutted by Dr. Schroeder at the second stage of the presumption analysis.  However, moving to the third stage of the presumption analysis, we find that the employee establishes a compensable injury by a preponderance of the evidence based on the overuse due to casting and recovery of his left arm.  This result is supported by the testimony of the employee and Dr. Wolf, both of whom we have already found to be credible.  

III.  Is the Employee Entitled to Compensation for Medical and Medical Transportation Expenses Associated with Treatment for his Right Arm?

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:  

. . . Unless the employer controverts the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel. 

The statutory presumption of compensability at AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits and related transportation costs.
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under subsection 95(a).
  

In this case, we found the employee's testimony and the reports and opinions of Dr. Wolf raised the presumption of compensability.  We further found in Section II. above, the opinions and medical records of Dr. Schroeder provided substantial evidence the employee either had no work related injury from working for the employer in 2001 or suffered from no overuse which rebutted the presumption of continuing compensability for any medical benefits and medical-related transportation reimbursement. However, the employee established by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to medical and medical transportation expenses associated with the treatment of his right arm.   We rely on the testimony of Dr. Wolf and find the treatment received by the employee for his right arm was and is reasonable and necessary.  We award medical benefits and medical-related transportation costs for the employee’s right arm condition.

IV.  Is the Employee Entitled to TTD from October 22, 2003 to December 12, 2003 or to the Present?

AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279.  As a result, we will apply the three-step process outlined above to determine if the employee is entitled to TTD.  The employee testified he injured his right arm while working for the employer during the period from May 31, 2001 to August 17, 2001.   Based on the employee’s testimony and the reports of Dr. Wolf, his treating physician, the Board concludes the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s TTD claim.  

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be presented to show that the employee is medically stable and has no permanent impairment.  The December 12, 2003 report of Dr. Schroeder stated that the employee’s right arm was medically stable as of the date of his examination.  Based upon Dr. Schroeder’s opinion, the employee is entitled to receive time loss from the date of surgery to December 12, 2003.  Dr. Wolf did not address the question of the medical stability of the employee’s right arm except to say that he did not agree with Dr. Schroeder’s opinion regarding medical stability and permanent impairment.

The Board finds the report of Dr. Schroeder is substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability for the employee’s TTD claim after December 12, 2003.  DeYonge 1 P.3d at 96; Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977.

At the third stage, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Veco, Inc., 693 P.2d at 865.  In this case, the employee has not offered another date of medical stability beyond the one offered by Dr. Schroeder.  For this reason, the Board finds that the employee’s TTD ended as of December 12, 2003, the date of the medical stability determination by Dr. Schroeder.  AS 23.30.185 limits the duration of TTD to the date of medical stability.   AS 23.30.395(21) defines medical stability:  

“[M]edical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for addi​tional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measur​able improvement for a period of 45 days; "this presump​tion may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence . . . .

The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that “improvement. . . is not reasonably expected.”  To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, we conclude the employer must show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.  See AS 44.62.460(e).   Applying these standards to the case at hand, the Board finds the employee is entitled to TTD from October 22, 2003 through December 12, 2003, the date Dr. Schroeder found the employee to be medically stable.  

Because the employee’s medical benefits were controverted, Dr. Wolf was not able to address the employee’s condition after his October 22, 2003 surgery.  The Board believes Dr. Wolf may have an opinion regarding the employee’s eligibility for TTD or PPI after December 12, 2003, as he expressed his disagreement with Dr. Schroeder’s report at the hearing. Therefore, we will allow the employee an opportunity to submit additional medical documentation regarding his eligibility for TTD and/or PPI after December 12, 2003. While the Board believes the employee is entitled to TTD through the date of medical stability set out in Dr. Schroeder’s December 12, 2003 report, we do not believe that Dr. Schroeder’s December 12, 2003 report excludes the employee’s work related injury as a cause for the employee’s continuing problems.  Under the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Wollaston v. Schroeder Cutting, Inc.,
  the Court found that in order to rebut the presumption of compensability, the employer must provide substantial evidence that either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability, or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that employment was a factor in causing the disability.    The Board concludes that in this case Dr. Schroeder’s report has not addressed the compensability of the employee’s condition after December 12, 2003.  Because the employee has not been able to address this issue as his benefits have been controverted, we will give the employee an opportunity to revisit the compensability of his condition in terms of time loss and/or PPI for the period after December 12, 2003.

IV.  Was the Controversion of October 25, 2003 Frivolous and Unfair?
The employer controverted the employee’s right elbow claim on November 25, 2003.  The basis for the controversion was that the claim was barred under AS 23.30.100.  In determining whether the controversion was unfair or frivolous, the Board looks to Harp v. Arco Alaska.
 The Alaska Supreme Court held in that case:  
A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty…For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

The Board has previously applied the court’s reasoning in Harp and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).
  The Board has consistently required an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.
  

Under the circumstances of this case, the Board does not find that there was a factually or legally unfair or frivolous controversion.  The employer fairly believed that the employee failed to provide notice of his right arm injury and based on this failure, it controverted benefits.  The Board finds that the controversion was filed in good faith and no penalties are due.    

V.  Penalties and Interest
AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .

(d) . . . If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

The employee injured his right elbow but did not report the injury to the employer until July 15, 2003.  The employee later had surgery on his right elbow on October 22, 2003.  He was paid TTD from this date until he was determined to be medically stable December 12, 2003.  The Board finds that the employee was paid time loss for the periods during which he was entitled to it.  There was no showing that he was not able to work from the period when he first reported his right arm problems to Dr. Wolf on February 14, 2003.  

 8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

The Board finds that the employee was paid the benefits to which he was entitled and no interest or penalties are due.

VI.  Witness Fees and Costs
Under 8 AAC 45.180, the Board has authority to award reimbursement for costs related to preparation and presentation of issues on which the applicant prevails at the hearing on the claim.  Subsection (f) provides:

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. The following costs will, in the board's discretion, be awarded to an applicant: 

(1) costs incurred in making a witness available for cross-examination; 

(2) court reporter fees and costs of obtaining deposition transcripts; 

(3) costs of obtaining medical reports; 

(4) costs of taking the deposition of a medical expert, provided all parties to the deposition have the opportunity to obtain and review the medical records before scheduling the deposition; 

(5) travel costs incurred by an employee in attending a deposition prompted by a Smallwood objection; 

(6) costs for telephonic participation in a hearing; 

(7) costs incurred in securing the services and testimony, if necessary, of vocational rehabilitation experts; 

(8) costs incurred in obtaining the in-person testimony of physicians at a scheduled hearing; 

(9) expert witness fees, if the board finds the expert's testimony to be relevant to the claim; 

(10) long-distance telephone calls, if the board finds the call to be relevant to the claim; 

(11) the costs of a licensed investigator, if the board finds the investigator's services to be relevant and necessary; 

(12) reasonable costs incurred in serving subpoenas issued by the board, if the board finds the subpoenas to be necessary; 

(13) reasonable travel costs incurred by an applicant to attend a hearing, if the board finds that the applicant's attendance is necessary; 

(14) fees for the services of a paralegal or law clerk, but only if the paralegal or law clerk 

(A) is employed by an attorney licensed in this or another state; 

(B) performed the work under the supervision of a licensed attorney; 

(C) performed work that is not clerical in nature; 

(D) files an affidavit itemizing the services performed and the time spent in performing each service; and 

(E) does not duplicate work for which an attorney's fee was awarded; 

(15) duplication fees at 10 cents per page, unless justification warranting awarding a higher fee is presented; 

(16) government sales taxes on legal services; 

(17) other costs as determined by the board. 

During the course of his testimony, the employee did not address the question of payment for Dr. Wolf’s appearance. The Board finds that Dr. Wolf’s testimony was significant in support of the employee’s claim and allowed the employee to prevail on many of the issues in this case.  The Board is mindful of the need to assist unrepresented employees in their appearance before the Board.   The employee also did not present an itemized list of expenses connection with prosecution of his claim.  The Board believes he may be entitled to compensation for the expenses, in particular those related to postage, telephone expenses and copying costs. Under these circumstances, we will give him a reasonable time, within 30 days after the date of issuance of this order, to present to the Board and the employer, an itemized list of these expenses for consideration for reimbursement.  We will retain jurisdiction and take this matter under advisement to address any unresolved issues between the parties as they are provided to us.


ORDER

1. The employee’s entitlement to benefits is not barred for failure to give notice of injury under AS 23.30.100.

      2.    The employee has established a compensable claim related to a work related injury to his  

            right elbow.  The injury occurred during the course and scope of his employment and he is      


entitled to related benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  

3. The employee is entitled to payment of medical and medical transportation expenses 

       associated with his right arm condition. 


4. The employee is entitled to TTD from October 22, 2003 through December 12, 2003

       pursuant to AS  23.30.185.  The employee may submit additional medical documentation   

       from Dr. Wolf regarding his eligibility for additional TTD or PPI.  The employer may 

       respond as it deems necessary.

6.   The employer did not unfairly or frivolously controvert the employee’s claim.

7. The employee is not entitled to penalties or interest on late paid benefits.

8. The employee may be entitled to reimbursement for reasonable witness fees and reasonable costs incurred in the prosecution of his claim.  The Board will retain jurisdiction over this issue.  The employee is authorized to submit claims for such items to the employer pursuant to 8 AAC 45.0180(f)(3) and (9) within 30 days of the date of this order.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska,  on September  27,  2004.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue is not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the Board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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